
         

 

 

KEYS EDGE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 

APRIL 29, 2024 
3:00 P.M. 

 

 

 

 
Special District Services, Inc. 

8785 SW 165th Avenue, Suite 200 
Miami, FL 33193 

www.keysedgecdd.org 
786.347.2700 ext. 2027 Telephone 

877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



AGENDA 
KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Conference Room 
1200 NW 4th Street 

Homestead, Florida 33030 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 

April 29, 2024 
3:00 p.m. 

 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………………Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Consider Appointments of Supervisors to Vacant Seats (Seats 1 and 2) 

E. Administer Oath of Office and Review New Board Member Duties and Responsibilities 

F. Election of Officers  

G. Additions or Deletions to Agenda  

H. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

I. Approval of Minutes  

1. December 14, 2023 Special Board Meeting………………………………………………………Page 2 

J. Old Business 

1. Update Regarding Petition to Amend District Boundary – Miami-Dade County 

K. New Business 

1. Consider Approval of Engineer’s Report………………………………………..………………..Page 5 

2. Consider Approval of Master Special Assessment Methodology Report……………………...…Page 18 
 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2024-01 - Authorizing the Issuance of Bonds…………………............Page 32 

4. Consider Resolution No. 2024-02 – Declaring Assessments…………………………………......Page 40 

5. Consider Resolution No. 2024-03 – Setting Public Hearing on Assessments……………............Page 43 

6. Consider Resolution No. 2024-04 – Setting Public Hearing for Intent to Use Uniform  
      Method of Collection…….…………………………………………………………….….............Page 47 

L. Administrative & Operational Matters  

1. Consider Appointment of Investment Banker…………………………………………………….Page 50 

2. Consider Appointment of Bond Counsel………………………………………………………….Page 55 

3. Consider Appointment of Trustee…………………………………………………………………Page 71 

4. Discussion Regarding Required Ethics Training Memorandum………………………………….Page 72 

5. Statement of Financial Interest 2023 Form 1 Reminder – Filing Deadline: July 1, 2024 

M. Board Member & Staff Closing Comments 

N. Adjourn 

 



Page 1



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 

DECEMBER 14, 2023 
 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
District Manager Armando Silva called the December 14, 2023, Special Board Meeting of Keys 
Edge Community Development District (the “District”) to order at 10:04 a.m. in the Conference 
Room located at 1200 NW 4th Street, Homestead, Florida 33030. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Mr. Silva presented proof of publication that notice of the Special Board Meeting had been 
published in the Miami Herald on December 7, 2023, as legally required. 
 
C.  SEAT RE-ELECTED BOARD MEMBERS AND/OR NEW BOARD MEMBERS 
 
Mr. Silva seated and welcomed the re-elected and new Board Members, Ronald Fields and Miriam 
Lopez.   
 
D.  ADMINISTER OATH OF OFFIVE & REVIEW BOARD MEMBER 
RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES 
 
Mr. Silva, Notary Public in the State of Florida, administered the Oath of Office to Mr. Fields and 
Ms. Lopez.  
 
E.   ESTABLISH A QUORUM  
 
Mr. Silva determined that the attendance of Chairperson Alicia Ale, Vice Chairperson Miriam 
Lopez and Supervisor Ronald Fields constituted a quorum and it was in order to proceed with the 
meeting. 
 
Staff in attendance included: District Manager Armando Silva of Special District Services, Inc.; and 
General Counsel Ginger Wald of Billing, Cochran, Lyles, Mauro & Ramsey, P.A. 
 
F.  ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
 
As a result of the changes to the Board of the District, Mr. Silva recommended that re-election of 
the District’s Officers take place.  She provided the following slate of names for election: 
 

Chairperson – Alicia Ale 
Vice Chairperson – Miriam Lopez 
Secretary/Treasurer – Nancy Nguyen 
Assistant Secretaries – Ronald Fields, Armando Silva, and Gloria Perez 
 

A motion was made by Mr. Fields, seconded by Ms. Lopez and passed unanimously electing the 
District’s Officers, as listed above. 
 

Page 2



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

G.  CONFIRMATION OF LANDOWNERS’ ELECTION RESULTS 
 
Mr. Silva restated the District Landowners’ Meeting/Election results and recommended that they be 
confirmed.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Fields, seconded by Ms. Lopez and passed unanimously confirming the 
Landowners’ Meeting election results, to wit: Ronald Fields and Miriam Lopez both received 71 
votes and were each elected to 4-year terms of office, which will expire in November 2027.  Seat #2 
remains vacant as no one ran for that seat.  
 
H.  ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 

 
Mr. Silva requested to have the following item added to the agenda for discussion: 
 

 New Business – Discussion Regarding Landscape Maintenance 
 
The Board acknowledged Mr. Silva’s request.  
 
I. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
There were no comments from the public for items not on the agenda. 
 
J. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 1.  May 24, 2023, Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing 
 
Mr. Silva presented the minutes of the May 24, 2023, Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing and 
asked if there were any changes and/or corrections. 
 
There being no changes, a motion was made by Mr. Fields, seconded by Ms. Ale and unanimously 
passed approving the minutes of the May 24, 2023, Regular Board Meeting, as presented. 
 
K. OLD BUSINESS 

1. Update Regarding Petition to Expand District Boundary 
 
Mr. Silva advised that the first hearing with the Board of Miami-Dade County Commissioners was 
scheduled for some time in February/March 2024. More information regarding this matter will be 
provided at an upcoming meeting.  
 
L. NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Consider Resolution No. 2023-05 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Amended 
Budget 

 
Mr. Silva presented Resolution No. 2023-05, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE KEYS 
EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AUTHORIZING 

Page 3



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

AND ADOPTING AN AMENDED FINAL FISCAL YEAR 2022/2023 
BUDGET (“AMENDED BUDGET”), PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 189, 
FLORIDA STATUTES; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Mr. Silva provided an explanation for the document. A discussion ensued after which: 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Ale, seconded by Mr. Fields and unanimously passed approving and 
adopting Resolution No. 2023-05, as presented. 
 

2. ADD-ON - Discussion Regarding Landscape Maintenance 
 
Mr. Silva stated that the Property Manager for the community “Aurora” had reached out to District 
Manager Nancy Nguyen regarding the landscape maintenance of the park tract located within the 
community. Mr. Silva stated that the maintenance of the park tract would continue to be paid for by 
the Developer, until the park tract has been conveyed to the District. 
 
M. ADMINISTRATIVE & OPERATIONAL MATTERS 
 1.   Staff Report, as Required 
 
There was no staff report at this time.  
 
N. BOARD MEMBER & STAFF CLOSING COMMENTS 
 
Mr. Silva stated that the next District meeting was scheduled for January 26, 2024, and that if the 
meeting needs to be cancelled, the Board will receive an email with that notification.  
 
O. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was made by Mr. Fields, 
seconded by Ms. Lopez and unanimously passed adjourning the Special Board Meeting at 
approximately 10:24 a.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________               ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary                                       Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 

Page 4



Keys Edge Community Development District

Engineer’s Report
Infrastructure Improvements

Prepared for
Keys Edge Community Development District

Board of Supervisors
Miami-Dade County, Florida

Prepared by
Alvarez Engineers, Inc.

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101 
Doral, FL 33172 

Telephone 305-640-1345

E-Mail Address: Info@Alvarezeng.com

Accepted
June 2, 2022

Revised 
April 29, 2024

Page 5



04/29/2024 Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 

DRAFT No. 1 

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101, Doral, Florida 33172 
Telephone (305) 640-1345 E-Mail: Info@AlvarezEng.com 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Narrative 

I. Introduction …………………………………………………………………... 1 
II. Composition of the Development …………………………………………. 1 
III. Purpose of this Engineer’s Report ………………………………………. 2 
IV. Description of the Public Infrastructure …………………………………. 2 
V. Estimated Schedule of Construction of the Public Infrastructure ……. 3 
VI. Ownership and Maintenance ……………………………………………. 3 
VII. Permitting Status ……………………………………………….…………. 4 
VIII. Estimate of Public Infrastructure Costs ………………………………… 5 
IX. Engineer’s Certification …………………………………………………. 5 

Exhibits (Maps) 

Exhibit 1, Development Master Plan …………….…………………. 8 
Exhibit 2, Existing CDD Boundary ……………………….…………. 9 
Exhibit 3 Proposed CDD Expansion and Contraction ……………. 10 
Exhibit 4 Proposed CDD Boundary ………………………………… 11 

Page 6



04/29/2024 Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 

DRAFT No. 1 

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101, Doral, Florida 33172 
Telephone (305) 640-1345 E-Mail: Info@AlvarezEng.com 

I. Introduction.

The Keys Edge Community Development District (the “District” or “CDD”) was established by the 
enactment of Miami-Dade County (the “County”) Ordinance No. 07-106 on July 24, 2007. Such 
Ordinance became effective ten days later, August 3, 2007. To correct a scrivener’s error in the legal 
description, the County passed and adopted Ordinance No. 07-173 on December 4, 2007, such 
ordinance became effective on December 14, 2007. 

ONX-ODAGLED Grand Palms II, LLC (the “Developer”) intends to develop a residential community 
named ONX Community (the “Development”) located within the limits of the City of Florida City (the “City”) 
in Miami-Dade County. The Development is made up of seven parcels, or sites, as depicted in the master 
plan shown on Exhibit 1. The Development is expected to encompass 278 Townhome units and 511 
Single Family units for a total of 789 residential units within 90.22 acres of land. 

The 81.84-acre area and boundaries of the CDD established in 2007 (the “Original CDD”) did not conform 
to the area or the boundaries of the new 90.22-acre Development, and therefore the District Board of 
Supervisors (the “Board”) filed a petition (the “Petition ) to the County to expand and contract 
the boundaries of the Original CDD as to make them conform to the boundaries of the new 
Development. The boundaries of the Original CDD are depicted in Exhibit 2, the areas to be added to, 
and removed from, the Original CDD, and which amount to a net increase of 8.38 acres, are shown on 
Exhibit 3, and the future boundaries of the 90.22-acre CDD, after expansion and contraction, are 
portrayed on Exhibit 4 (the “New CDD Boundaries”). The acreages and areas mentioned in this 
Engineer’s Report are approximate and will be defined and described in legal descriptions by a 
Professional Surveyor. This Engineer’s Report supersedes all previous engineer’s reports accepted by 
the CDD Board. The County approved the Petition by ordinance on April 16, 2024 with an effective date 
of April 26, 2024. 

The District will partially finance the public infrastructure improvements that support the Development, 
including road improvements; Miami-Dade County road impact fees; the stormwater and drainage 
facilities; and the water and sewer systems, including Miami-Dade County or City connection charges. For 
the District to construct or acquire completed infrastructure improvements related to the Development, the 
Developer will transfer to the CDD in fee simple and at no cost, the tracts for open space, parks, and 
drainage, as well as the portions of the ingress and egress tracts in the Townhomes parcels. The roads 
within the Single-Family parcels are expected to be constructed within road right of ways that will be 
dedicated to the City by plat. The infrastructure improvements and the lands to be transferred to the CDD 
are referred hereinafter as the “Public Infrastructure.” 

II. Composition of the Development.

The 90.22-acre Development will consist of the seven parcels listed in Table 1. Table 1

Parcel ID Commercial Name Acreage 
No. of Residential Units 

Townhomes Single Family

A Luna 9.42 134 

B Centro 9.92 144 

C Aurora 17.79 142 

D Flora 14.88 113 

E Flora II 15.56 119 

F Park 7.50 - - 

G Alba 15.15 137 

Sub-Total 278 511 

Total 90.22 789 

1

Page 7



04/29/2024 Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 

DRAFT No. 1 

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101, Doral, Florida 33172 
Telephone (305) 640-1345 E-Mail: Info@AlvarezEng.com 

The land of the District will encompass CDD-owned and non-CDD-owned areas as shown in Table 2. 

Table 2 

Parcel ID Roads Drainage Water & Sewer Parks Open Space Tracts 

A CDD CDD City CDD CDD 

B CDD CDD City CDD CDD 

C City City City CDD CDD

D City City City - CDD 

E City City City - CDD 

F - CDD City CDD CDD

G City City City - CDD 

III. Purpose of this Engineer’s Report.

This Engineer’s Report was prepared for the purpose of describing the Public Infrastructure that supports 
the Development within the District and to report as to its estimated construction costs, status of permits, 
and schedule of construction. The Public Infrastructure is to be partially financed by the District and will 
specifically benefit the landowners and residents living within the CDD boundaries as well as incidentally 
benefitting the general public. 

IV. Description of the Public Infrastructure.

The Public Infrastructure, as described in this Report, consists of roadway, stormwater management, 
drainage, water, and sanitary sewer improvements that will give service and access to the 789 residential 
units located inside the District’s boundary. The proposed Public Infrastructure, as outlined herein, is 
necessary for the functional development of the District and provides a direct and special benefit to the 
assessable lands within. 

a. Roadway Improvements.

Onsite CDD Roads: The Onsite CDD Roads consist of the road right of ways within the
Townhomes areas of the District (Parcels A and B, Refer to Exhibit 1 for the location). The
Roadway Improvements within the Onsite CDD Roads include earthwork, road subgrades, bases,
asphalt pavement, sidewalks, signs, and pavement markings.

Onsite City Roads: The Onsite City Roads consist of the road right of ways within the Single-
Family homes’ areas of the District (Parcels C, D, E and G, Refer to Exhibit 1 for the location).
The Roadway Improvements within the Onsite City Roads include earthwork, road subgrades,
bases, asphalt pavement, sidewalks, signs, and pavement markings.

Collector City Roads: The Collector City Roads consist of the right of ways adjacent to the
Development Parcels, i.e., SW 336 St, SW 187 Ave, SW 344 St, SW 192 Ave, SW 340 St, and
SW 189 Ave. The Roadway Improvements within the Collector Roads include earthwork, road
subgrades, bases, asphalt pavement, sidewalks, signs, pavement markings and signals.

The Developer intends to grant the onsite road right of ways to the District in fee simple and at no
cost for the CDD, as indicated in Table 2, to either construct the roads or acquire them from the
Developer when completed.

2

Page 8



04/29/2024 Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 

DRAFT No. 1 

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101, Doral, Florida 33172 
Telephone (305) 640-1345 E-Mail: Info@AlvarezEng.com 

The County and City Road Impact Fees are included in the estimated cost of the CDD roadway 
improvements. The Developer intends to advance the funds to pay for the impact fees on behalf 
of the District. 

The irrigation systems and the landscaping within the District in road right of ways and open 
spaces and parks will be maintained by the CDD. The irrigation systems and landscaping are to 
be transferred by the Developer to the CDD by bill of sale at no cost. 

b. Stormwater Management and Drainage Facilities.

The District will fund the construction, or acquisition of, the drainage components of the
Development, which consists of inlets, manholes, pipes, exfiltration trenches and appurtenances
within the Onsite CDD and City Roads, as well as in all the parcels listed in Table 2 above.

For the purpose of the District to finance the construction or acquisition of the stormwater
management and drainage facilities, the Developer intends to grant to the District at no costs and
in fee simple, the parcels as indicated in Table 2 above.

The District will not finance the cost of any earthwork that involves the transportation to, or the
spreading or grading on, the private lots.

c. Water Distribution and Sewer Collection Systems.

The cost of constructing the water and sewer systems is included in the Public Infrastructure. The
systems extend from the point of connection with City utilities to the property lines of the
residential lots. No lateral service lines beyond the water meters will be part of the Public
Infrastructure.

The County and City Connection Charges are included in the estimated costs of the Public
Infrastructure. The Developer intends to advance the funds to pay for the connection charges on
behalf of the District.

V. Estimated Schedule of Construction of the Public Infrastructure.

Table 3 

Begin Date (Quarter/Year) End Date (Quarter/Year)

Parcel A Q2/2025 Q1/2026 

Parcel B Q4/2024 Q2/2025

Parcel C Q3/2021 Q3/2023 

Parcel D Q3/2024 Q2/2025

Parcel E Q3/2024 Q4/2025 

Parcel F Q3/2024 Q1/2026 

Parcel G Q2/2022 Q2/2024 

VI. Ownership and Maintenance.

The District will partially finance the acquisition and/or construction of the Public Infrastructure. It will then 
transfer or retain the improvements to the following agencies for ownership and maintenance: 

3

Page 9



04/29/2024 Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 

DRAFT No. 1 

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101, Doral, Florida 33172 
Telephone (305) 640-1345 E-Mail: Info@AlvarezEng.com 

Table 4
Description Future Ownership Future Maintenance

CDD Roads CDD CDD 

City Roads City City

CDD Drainage CDD CDD 

City Drainage City City

Water and Sewer City City

Parks CDD CDD 

Irrigation and Landscaping (Not CDD funded) CDD CDD 

VII. Permitting Status.

The table below reflects the permitting status of the development as of the date of this Report. 

Table 5 

Permit Agency 
In 

Process 
Approved Date/Anticipated 

Parcel A 

T-Plat County May 2025 

Final Plat County Jan 2026

Paving and Drainage County/City March 2025 

Water & Sewer County/City March 2025

Parcel B 

T-Plat County April 2024

Final Plat County November 2024 

Paving and Drainage County/City August 2024

Water & Sewer County/City August 2024 

Parcel C Phase I

T-Plat County Mar 2021

Final Plat County Nov 2022

Paving and Drainage County/City May 2021 

Water & Sewer County/City June 2021 

Parcel C Phase II 

T-Plat County Mar 2021 

Final Plat County Nov 2022 

Paving and Drainage County/City Sep 2022

Water & Sewer County/City Sept. 2021 

Parcel D

T-Plat County Sep 2023 

Final Plat County Sep 2024 

Paving and Drainage County/City Aug 2024 

Water & Sewer County/City Aug 2024

4

Page 10



04/29/2024 Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 

DRAFT No. 1 

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101, Doral, Florida 33172 
Telephone (305) 640-1345 E-Mail: Info@AlvarezEng.com 

Table 5 

Permit Agency In 
Process

Approved Date/Anticipated 

Parcel E Sep 2023

T-Plat County Sep 2024

Final Plat County Aug 2024

Paving and Drainage County/City Aug 2024 

Water & Sewer County/City Aug 2024

Parcel F 

T-Plat County Sep 2023

Final Plat County Sep 2024

Paving and Drainage County/City Aug 2024

Water & Sewer County/City Aug 2024 

Parcel G

T-Plat County Sep 2022 

Final Plat County Dec 2023 

Paving and Drainage County/City Apr 2023 

Water & Sewer County/City Apr 2023

VIII. Estimate of Public Infrastructure Costs.

Table 6 

Parcel ID Roads ($) (1) Drainage ($) (2) Water/Sewer ($) (3) Totals ($)

A 1,749,000 306,000 645,000 2,700,000 

B 1,826,000 329,000 693,000 2,848,000 

C 2,957,000 970,000 1,821,000 5,748,000 

D 2,441,000 772,000 1,886,000 5,099,000 

E 2,559,000 813,000 1,526,000 4,898,000 

F 191,000 49,000 - 240,000 

G 2,742,000 935,000 1,757,000 5,434,000 

Totals 14,465,000 4,174,000 8,328,000 26,967,000 

(1) Includes the cost of road impact fees and 10% contingency.
(2) Includes 10% contingency.
(3) Includes the cost of water and sewer connection fees and 10% contingency.

IX. Engineer's Certification.

It is our opinion that the proposed improvements constituting the Public Infrastructure and their estimated 
costs are fair and reasonable, and that the residential lots within the assessment areas will receive a 
direct and special benefit equal to or greater than the cost of such improvements. The District will pay no 
more for the Public Infrastructure than the lesser of the actual cost or the fair market value thereof. We 
believe that the improvements can be permitted, constructed, and installed at the costs described in this 
report. 

5

Page 11



04/29/2024 Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 

DRAFT No. 1 

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101, Doral, Florida 33172 
Telephone (305) 640-1345 E-Mail: Info@AlvarezEng.com 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the Engineer's Report for the Keys Edge 
Community Development District. 

Juan R. Alvarez, PE 
Florida Registration No. 38522 
Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 
April 29, 2024. 

Page 12



04/29/2024 Alvarez Engineers, Inc. 

DRAFT No. 1 

8935 NW 35 Lane, Suite 101, Doral, Florida 33172 
Telephone (305) 640-1345 E-Mail: Info@AlvarezEng.com 

APPENDIX 

Page 13



E
X

H
IB

IT
 1

 -
 D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

 M
A

S
T

E
R

 P
L

A
N

88

Page 14



E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 C
D

D
 

B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

E
X

H
IB

IT
 2

 -
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 C

D
D

 B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

99

Page 15



E
X

P
A

N
S

IO
N

 
A

R
E

A

E
X

H
IB

IT
 3

 -
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 C

D
D

 
E

X
P

A
N

S
IO

N
/C

O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IO

N
 A

R
E

A
S

C
O

N
T

R
A

C
T

IO
N

 
A

R
E

A

E
X

P
A

N
S

IO
N

 
A

R
E

A

1010

Page 16



E
X

H
IB

IT
 4

 -
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 N

E
W

 C
D

D
 

B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

1111

Page 17



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

MASTER SPECIAL ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY 
REPORT  

 
PREPARED FOR THE  

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
 

 
April 29, 2024 

         
SPECIAL DISTRICT SERVICES, INC 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 

561-630-4922 

Page 18



 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

The Keys Edge Community Development District (the “District”) is a local unit of special purpose 
government located in the City of Florida City (the “City”) in Miami-Dade, Florida (the “County”). 
The District was established by Ordinance No. 07-106 enacted on July 24, 2007and effective on 
August 3, 2007, as amended by Ordinance No. 07-173 enacted on December 4, 2007 and effective on 
December 14, 2007 to correct a scrivener’s error in the legal description, and as further amended by 
Ordinance 24-35 enacted on April 16, 2024 and effective on April 26, 2024 to amend the original 
81.84-acre boundaries of the District by expanding the total district boundary to 90.22 acres 
(collectively, the “Ordinance”). The Ordinance was enacted to provide for the construction, and/or 
acquisition, financing, long-term administration and management of certain infrastructure of the 
Development, as defined below. 

The Keys Edge PUD (the “Development”) is a planned Development containing approximately 90.22 
gross acres and is located in the City.  The District is co-terminus with the Development and the lands 
within the District are planned for the following land uses: 

 
Table 1 – Proposed Land Uses for the District 

 
 

Land Use Category 
 

Unit 
 

Townhomes 278 Dwelling units 
 

Single - Family 511 Dwelling units 
 

TOTAL 789 Dwelling units 

 
 
This Master Special Assessment Methodology Report (the “Master Report”) provides the allocation 
of special assessments as it relates to the sale and issuance of Special Assessment Bonds to be issued 
in one or more series (the “Bonds”) for the financing of public infrastructure improvements in the 
Development located in the District, including, but not limited to, the surface water management and 
drainage system, the water distribution system, the wastewater collection system and other related 
public improvements, as more particularly described in the hereinafter defined Engineer’s Report 
(collectively, the “Project”). 
 
This Master Report equitably allocates the costs to be incurred by the District to provide the benefits 
of the Project to the developable lands within the Development as identified herein on Exhibit A. The 
improvements comprising the Project are described below and in the Engineer’s Report dated June 2, 
2022, revised April 29, 2024, as may be amended and supplemented from time to time (the “Engineer’s 
Report”), which has been prepared by Alvarez Engineers, Inc. (the “District Engineer”). 
 
Supplemental assessment methodology reports will be prepared for each series of Bonds that are to be 
issued, and will set forth the specific portion of the Project to be funded.   
 

Page 19



 
 

2.0 PROJECTS TO BE FUNDED BY THE DISTRICT 
 
The District anticipates issuing Bonds to finance all or portion of the acquisition and/or construction 
of the Project. The total cost of the Project is estimated to be approximately $26,967,000. A detail of 
the Project costs is included herein on Table A. The Bonds will be repaid through the levy of non-ad 
valorem special assessments on all assessable property within the District. The Project has been 
designed to be functional and confer direct and special benefits to the landowners within the District 
which direct and special benefits equal or exceed the costs of the Project. Any portion of the Project 
not financed through the issuance of Bonds will be paid for by ONX-ODAGLED Grand Palms II, 
LLC (the “Developer”). 
 
The acquisition and maintenance obligations for the District’s proposed infrastructure improvements 
constituting the Project are described in summary as follows (a detailed description is included in the 
Engineer’s Report): 
 
All of the surface water management and drainage system will be constructed by the Developer and 
will be acquired by the District. The District will be responsible for the operation and maintenance of 
the system retained by the District and serve the District. 
 
The water distribution and wastewater collection sewer systems will be constructed by the Developer 
and will be acquired by the District and dedicated to the City of Florida City Utility Department upon 
certification of construction. Upon such transfer by the District, the ownership, operation and 
maintenance of these systems will be the responsibility of City of Florida City Utility Department. In 
the event the connection charges are paid by the Developer these charges are being paid for and on 
behalf of the District. 
 
Other construction items such as off-site utilities, including, but not limited to, on-site roadways, road 
impact fees, general utilities, water main, force main, and sitework.  The District will be responsible 
for the operation and maintenance of the portion of the system retained by the District and which 
serves the Development. 
 
The construction costs identified in this Master Report were provided by the District Engineer. Special 
District Services, Inc., as District Manager, makes no representation regarding the accuracy or validity 
of those costs and did not undertake any analysis or verification regarding such costs. 
 
3.0 FUNDING OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 
To defray the costs of construction and/or acquisition of all or a portion of the Project, the District will 
impose non-ad valorem special assessments on benefited real property within the District. These 
special assessments are based on the direct, special and peculiar benefits accruing to such property 
from the improvements comprising the Project. The use of non-ad valorem special assessments has an 
advantage in that the properties that receive the direct and special benefits from the Project are the 
only properties that are obligated to pay for those facilities and services. Without these improvements, 
development of the property would not be possible. The capital facilities which will be funded through 
these special assessments include only facilities which may be undertaken by a community 
development district under Chapter 190, F.S. This Master Report is designed to meet the requirements 
of Chapters 170, 190 and 197, F.S. and will describe the expected terms and conditions of the Bonds.  
 
In summary, special assessments may be made only: (1) for facilities which provide direct and special 
benefits to property as distinct from general benefits, (2) only against property which receives that 

Page 20



 
 

direct and special benefit, (3) in proportion to the benefits received by such properties, and (4) 
according to fair and reasonable methods that the governing body of the jurisdiction determines. The 
special assessments (both capital special assessments and operation and maintenance special 
assessments) placed upon various benefited properties within the District must be sufficient to cover 
the debt service of the Bonds that will be issued for financing all or a portion of the Project and to pay 
the costs to maintain those portions of the infrastructure that remain under the ownership of the 
District. The assessments must be fairly and reasonably allocated to the properties being assessed. 
 
4.0 ALLOCATION OF BENEFIT AND ASSESSMENTS 
 
In developing the methodology used for special assessments for the Development in the District, two 
(2) interrelated factors were used: 
 

A. Allocation of Benefit: Each parcel of assessable land within the District receives a direct and 
special benefit from the proposed improvements.  

  
B. Cost/Benefit: The special assessments imposed on each assessable parcel of land within the 

District cannot exceed the value of the direct and special benefits provided to such parcel. 
 
The planned improvements comprising the Project is an integrated system of facilities designed to 
provide benefits to the assessable property within the District as a whole. The Project is intended to 
work as a total system which will provide direct and special benefits for each unit type. The fair and 
reasonable method of allocating the benefit to each planned residential unit has been accomplished by 
assigning an equivalent residential unit (“ERU”) to each unit. Therefore, for the purpose of this Master 
Report each single family residential unit will be assigned one (1.0) ERU and each Townhome 
residential unit will be assigned (0.85) ERU as listed in Table 2 below.    
 

Table 2 – Equivalent Residential Unit (ERU) 
 

Product Type # of Units    ERU Factor ERUs 
Townhome 278 0.85 236.30 

Single-Family 511 1.00 511.00 
TOTAL UNITS 789  747.30 

 
 
The special assessments will initially be levied across all the gross acreage in the District.  The lien 
will shift to the parcels in the District, as represented in Table F upon platting on a first platted, first 
assigned basis.  
 
The amount of the special assessments that will shift to platted lots is based on the schedule in Table 
F.  Land that is sold in the District prior to platting will have a lien amount attached to the parcel that 
is equal to the development rights conveyed with such parcel and type of planned use.  Special 
assessments will then be assigned in accordance with Table F.  As platting occurs the special 
assessments will be assigned on a first platted first assigned basis to platted lots receiving property 
folio numbers, and allocated on an ERU basis as shown herein on Table F.   
 
In addition to the special assessments imposed for debt service on the Bonds, the District will also 
levy an annual administrative assessment to fund the costs of operating and managing the District. As 
each residential dwelling unit will benefit equally from the operation and management of the District 

Page 21



 
 

and the Project, the annual operation and management assessments will be allocated equally to each 
assessable lot or unit.  
 
Given the District’s land use plan and the type of infrastructure to be funded by the special 
assessments, this method will result in a fair allocation of benefits and services and an equitable 
allocation of costs for the proposed Bonds.  However, if the future platting results in changes in land 
use or proportion of benefit per unit, this allocation methodology may not be applicable and it may be 
necessary for the District to revise this methodology. 
 
5.0 COLLECTION OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 
 
The proposed special assessments relating to the Project will be collected through the Uniform Method 
of Collection described in Chapter 197, Section 197.3632; F.S. or any other legal means available to 
the District.  
 
Since there are costs associated with the collection of the special assessments (whether by uniform 
method of collection as authorized under Chapter 197.3632, F.S. or other methods allowed by Florida 
law), these costs must also be included in the special assessment levy. These costs generally include 
the 1% collection fee of the County Tax Collector, a 1% service fee of the County Property Appraiser 
and a 4% discount for early payment of taxes. These additional costs may be reflected by dividing the 
annual debt service and operation and maintenance assessment amounts by 0.94.  
 
6.0 FINANCING STRUCTURE 
 
The estimated cost of the Project is approximately $26,967,000. The construction program and the 
costs associated therewith are identified herein on Table A. 
 
All or a portion of the capital improvements comprising the Project is to be financed by the Bonds and 
when issued which will be payable from and secured by special assessments levied annually on all 
assessable properties in the District. The total aggregate principal amount of the Bonds that may be 
issued by the District for the Project is approximately $33,500,000. The proceeds of the Bonds will 
provide approximately $26,967,000 for construction related costs. The sizing of the Bonds includes a 
debt service reserve fund, capitalized interest and issuance costs as shown on Table B.  Please note 
the above referenced Bond sizing is a maximum amount used for this Master Report and the Developer 
may request the District to issue a lesser amount of Bonds that are less than those presented.  The Bond 
debt allocations are shown on Table D. 
 
7.0 MODIFICATIONS, REVISIONS AND TRUE-UP MECHANISIM 

 
Allocation of costs and benefits, shown herein on Table C, for the Project financed by the District is 
initially based on the estimated number of dwelling units projected to be developed and benefited by 
the infrastructure improvements comprising the Project. Based on a Bond size of $33,500,000, at an 
assumed interest rate of 8.00%, the maximum annual debt service for the Bonds as shown herein on 
Table E, will be approximately $2,975,719 which has not been grossed up to include the 1% County 
Tax Collector fee, 1% County Property Appraiser fee, and 4% discount for early payment of taxes.  
 
To ensure that each residential lot is assessed no more than their pro-rata amount of the annual non-
ad valorem assessments shown herein on Table F, the District will be required to perform a “True-
Up” analysis, which requires a computation at the time of submission of each plat, re-plat or sale of a 

Page 22



 
 

parcel to determine the potential remaining assessable dwelling lots/units. The District shall, at the 
time a plat or re-plat or parcel sale is submitted to the City: 
 

A. Assume that the total number of assessable residential units being utilized as a basis for this 
assessment methodology is as described below, Table 3 (“Total Assessable Lots/Units”). 

 
Table 3 – Total Assessable Lots/Units for the District 

 
 

Land Use Category 
 

Unit 
 

Townhomes 278 Dwelling units 
 

Single-Family 511 Dwelling units 
 

TOTAL 789 Dwelling units 

 
B. Ascertain the number of assessable residential dwelling lots/units in the proposed plat or re-

plat or parcel sale and all prior plats or parcel sales (“Planned Assessable Lots/Units”). 
 

C. Ascertain the current amount of potential remaining assessable dwelling lots/units 
(“Remaining Assessable Lots/Units”). 

 
If the Planned Assessable Lots/Units are equal to the Total Assessable Lots/Units no action would be 
required at that time.  However, if the sum of the Planned Assessable Lots/Units and the Remaining 
Assessable Lots/Units are less than an estimated number reflected in Table 2, the Developer will be 
obligated by the District to remit to the District an amount of money sufficient to enable the District 
to retire an amount of Bonds plus accrued interest such that the amount of non-ad valorem assessments 
allocated to each Planned Assessable Lot does not exceed the amount of debt service that would have 
been allocated thereto had the total number of Planned Assessable Lots/Units and Remaining 
Assessable Lots/Units not changed from what is represented in Table 2. Conversely, if the Planned 
Assessable Lots/Units and Remaining Assessable Lots/Units of the residential lots/units is greater than 
the Total Assessable Lots/Units, then, there will be a pro-rata decrease in the annual non-ad valorem 
assessments to all of the benefited properties. 
 
All assessments levied run with the land. A determination of a true-up payment shall be based on the 
terms and provisions of a true-up mechanism described in this Master Report. It is the responsibility 
of the landowner of record to make any required true-up payments that are due.  The District will not 
release any liens on the property for which true-up payments are due until provision for such payment 
has been satisfied.  
 
In the event that additional land is annexed into the District which is currently not subject to the 
assessments and is developed in such a manner as to receive special benefit from the Project described 
herein, it will be necessary for this assessment methodology to be re-applied to include such parcels. 
The additional land will, as a result of re-applying this methodology, then be allocated an appropriate 
share of the special assessments while all currently assessed parcels will receive a relative reduction 
in their assessments. 
 
 
 

Page 23



 
 

8.0 PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL 

When fully developed, the current site plan for the District will include the land uses in Table 3. 
 

9.0       ADDITIONAL STIPULATIONS 
 
Certain financing, development, and engineering data was provided by members of District staff, 
Consultants and/or the Developer.  The allocation methodology described herein was based on 
information provided by those professionals.  Special District Services, Inc. makes no representations 
regarding said information beyond restatement of the factual information necessary for compilation of 
this report. 
 
Special District Services, Inc. does not represent the Keys Edge Community Development District as 
a Municipal Advisor or Securities Broker nor is Special District Services, Inc. registered to provide 
such services as described in Section 15B of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
Similarly, Special District Services, Inc. does not provide the Keys Edge Community Development 
District with financial advisory services or offer investment advice in any form. 
 
 
 

********************* 

Page 24



TABLE A

PROJECT COST ESTIMATES

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

TOTAL

ROADWAYS 14,465,000$            

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 4,174,000$              

WATER / SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM 8,328,000$              

TOTAL 26,967,000$            

Page 25



TABLE B

BOND SIZING

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

BOND SIZING

Par Amount* 33,500,000$                     *

Debt Service Reserve Fund (DSRF) (2,975,719)$                      

Capitalized Interest (2,680,000)$                      

Issuance Costs (877,281)$                         

Construction Funds 26,967,000$                     

Bond Interest Rate 8.00%

Principal Amortization Period (Years) 30

*Subject to change at final bond pricing

Page 26



TABLE C

ALLOCATION OF PROJECT COSTS

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Product
Number of  

Units       
by Type

ERU Factor Total ERUs
 Project Cost 

Allocation Per Type 

 Project Cost 
Allocation Per 

Unit* 

TOWNHOMES 278 0.850 236.30 8,527,100$                30,673$               

SINGLE-FAMILY 511 1.000 511.00 18,439,900$              36,086$               

TOTAL 789 N/A 747.30 26,967,000$              N/A

*Rounded

Page 27



TABLE D

ALLOCATION OF BOND DEBT

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Product
Number of  

Units       
by Type

ERU Factor Total ERUs
 Bond Debt 

Allocation Per Unit 
Type 

 Bond Debt 
Allocation  Per 

Unit* 

TOWNHOMES 278 0.850 236.30 10,592,868$              38,104$               

SINGLE-FAMILY 511 1.000 511.00 22,907,132$              44,828$               

TOTAL 789 N/A 747.30 33,500,000$              N/A

*Rounded

Page 28



TABLE E

CALCULATION OF ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

1 Maximum Annual Debt Service 2,975,719.02$           

2 Maximum Annual Debt Service Assessment to be Collected 3,165,658.53$           *

3 Total Number of Gross Acres 90.22                        

4 Maximum Annual Debt Service per Gross Acre $35,088.21

5 Total Number of Residential Units Planned 789

6 Maximum Annual Debt Service per Unit Type See Table F
*Grossed up to include 1% collection fee of the County Tax Collector, 1% service fee of the County Property 
Appraiser and 4% for early payment of taxes.

Bond Debt

Page 29



TABLE F

ALLOCATION OF DEBT SERVICE ASSESSMENTS

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Product
Number of  

Units by Type
ERU Factor Total ERUs

**Maximum 
Annual Debt  

Assessment Per  
Unit*

**Maximum 
Annual Debt 

Assessment Per 
Unit Type*

TOWNHOMES 278 0.850 236.30 1,000,997$              3,601$                  

SINGLE-FAMILY 511 1.000 511.00 2,164,661$              4,236$                  

TOTAL 789 N/A 747.30 3,165,659 3,165,659$           

*Rounded

 Folio ID#'s and/or Parcel Plat 
Description 

 Developable 
Acreage by 

Parcel 

 **Maximum 
Annual Debt 

Assessment Per 
Acre* 

 Par Debt Per 
Acre 

 Total Par Debt     

 Exhibit A 90.22 35,088.21$        371,314.56$      33,500,000$            

TOTALS N/A N/A 33,500,000$            

*Rounded
**Grossed up to include 1% collection fee of the County Tax Collector, 1% service fee of the County Property Appraiser and 4%
for early payment of taxes.

**Grossed up to include 1% collection fee of the County Tax Collector, 1% service fee of the County Property Appraiser and 4%
for early payment of taxes.

Page 30



EXHIBIT 1 - DEVELOPMENT MASTER PLAN

Page 31

Andrew
Typewritten Text
Exhibit A



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-01 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF KEYS EDGE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AUTHORIZING THE 
ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED $33,500,000 AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL 
AMOUNT OF KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS, IN ONE OR MORE SERIES, TO PAY 
ALL OR A PORTION OF THE COSTS OF DESIGN, ACQUISITION AND 
CONSTRUCTION OF CERTAIN PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, WATER 
DISTRIBUTION AND SEWER COLLECTION SYSTEMS, INCLUDING 
THE PAYMENT OF CONNECTION FEES; STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT AND DRAINAGE FACILITIES; ROADWAY 
IMPROVEMENTS, AND THE PAYMENT OF ROAD IMPACT FEES; AND 
ALL RELATED SOFT AND INCIDENTAL COSTS (COLLECTIVELY, 
THE “PROJECT”), PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 190, FLORIDA STATUTES, 
AS AMENDED; APPOINTING U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION TO SERVE AS TRUSTEE; APPROVING THE 
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND 
A SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE 
FORMS ATTACHED HERETO; PROVIDING THAT SUCH BONDS 
SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT, LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION OF 
KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (EXCEPT AS 
OTHERWISE PROVIDED HEREIN), THE CITY OF FLORIDA CITY, 
FLORIDA, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA, OR OF THE STATE OF 
FLORIDA OR OF ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, 
BUT SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 
ASSESSED AND LEVIED ON THE PROPERTY WITHIN THE DISTRICT 
BENEFITED BY THE PROJECT AND SUBJECT TO ASSESSMENT; 
PROVIDING FOR THE JUDICIAL VALIDATION OF SUCH BONDS; AND 
PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, Keys Edge Community Development District (the “District”), is a local unit 
of special-purpose government organized and existing in accordance with the Uniform Community 
Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Act”), created 
by Ordinance No. 07-106 of the Miami-Dade County Board of County Commissioners (the 
“County Commissioners”), enacted on July 24, 2007 and effective on August 3, 2007, as amended 
by Ordinance No. 07-173 of the County Commissioners to correct a scrivener’s error in the legal 
description, enacted on December 4, 2007 and effective on December 14, 2007 and as further 
amended by Ordinance No. 24-35 of the County Commissioners to amend the boundaries of the 
District, enacted on April 16, 2024 and effective on April 26, 2024; 

WHEREAS, the District was created for the purpose of delivering certain community 
development services and facilities within and outside its jurisdiction, and the District has decided 
to undertake the design, acquisition and construction costs of certain public infrastructure 
improvements to be located in or for the benefit of developable lands within the District including, 
but not limited to, water distribution and sewer collection systems, including the payment of 

Page 32



connection fees; stormwater management and drainage facilities; roadway improvements, and the 
payment of road impact fees; and all related soft and incidental costs, pursuant to the Act 
(collectively, the “Project”), all as set forth in Schedule “I” hereto; 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the issuance of not to exceed $33,500,000 
aggregate principal amount of its Keys Edge Community Development District Special 
Assessment Bonds, in one or more series (collectively, the “Bonds”), in order to pay all or a portion 
of the costs of design, acquisition and construction of the Project; 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide the terms and conditions under which the 
District will acquire and cause to be constructed the public infrastructure improvements on District 
lands and , if applicable, certain adjacent lands the improvement of which will specially benefit 
certain District lands known as ONX Community; 

WHEREAS, authority is conferred upon the District by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Florida, specifically including, but not limited to, Sections 190.011(9), 190.011(14), 
190.014, 190.016(1), 190.016(2), 190.016(5), 190.016(8), 190.016(11), 190.016(13), 190.022 and 
190.023 of the Act, to issue the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize and approve various instruments to be 
executed and delivered in connection with the Bonds and to provide for the judicial validation of 
the Bonds pursuant to Section 190.016(12), Florida Statutes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by Keys Edge Community Development 
District, as follows: 

Section 1.  Authorization of Bonds.  The District hereby authorizes the issuance of not to 
exceed $33,500,000 aggregate principal amount of the Bonds in one or more series to (i) finance 
all or a portion of the costs of the Project; (ii) fund debt service reserve accounts for each series of 
bonds so issued, if applicable; (iii) fund capitalized interest for the Bonds, if so required; and (iv) 
pay the costs of issuing the Bonds.  Pursuant to Section 190.016(1) of the Act, the Bonds may be 
issued and delivered by the District in payment of all or a portion of the purchase price of the 
Project or may be sold at public or private sale. 

Section 2.  Certain Details of the Bonds.  The Bonds and the interest thereon, shall not 
be deemed to constitute a debt, liability or obligation of the District (except as provided herein), 
the City of Florida City, Florida (the “City”), Miami-Dade County, Florida (the “County”), or of 
the State of Florida (the “State”), or of any other political subdivision thereof, but shall be payable 
solely from the Special Assessments (as defined in the form of Indenture hereinafter referred to) 
levied by the District on property within the District benefited by the Project and subject to 
assessment, as set forth in the Indenture, and neither the faith and credit nor any taxing power of 
the District, the City, the County or the State, or of any other political subdivision thereof, is 
pledged to the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds, except for Special Assessments 
to be assessed and levied by the District to secure and pay the Bonds. 

Page 33



The Bonds shall: 

(i) be issued in one or more series and may be delivered in payment of the 
purchase price of the Project or sold at public or private sale, as provided in Section 190.016(1), 
Florida Statutes, each series in an aggregate principal amount to be determined by subsequent 
resolution or resolutions of the District; provided, however, that the total aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds issued may not exceed $33,500,000 unless this Resolution is amended prior 
to the validation of the Bonds authorized herein; 

(ii) be issued in fully registered form in a minimum principal denomination of 
$5,000 and any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof, except as otherwise provided in the 
herein defined Indenture; 

(iii) bear interest at an average annual rate not exceeding the maximum rate as 
may then be permitted by the laws of the State as more particularly provided in one or more 
resolutions adopted by the District prior to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds of any series; 

(iv) shall be payable in not more than 30 annual installments of principal; and 

(v) be dated as provided in a resolution adopted by the District prior to the 
issuance and delivery thereof. 

The final maturity date or dates of the Bonds and the interest rate or rates thereon shall be 
determined, within the foregoing limits, and any optional, mandatory and extraordinary 
redemption provisions thereof shall be fixed, by the Indenture hereinafter referred to or by one or 
more resolutions of the District to be adopted prior to the delivery of the Bonds of any series.  In 
other respects, the Bonds shall be in the form, shall be executed and authenticated, shall be subject 
to replacement and shall be delivered as provided in the Indenture hereinafter referred to, the form 
of which is set out as composite Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 

Prior to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds, the District shall have undertaken and, to 
the extent then required under applicable law, completed all necessary proceedings, including, 
without limitation, the approval of assessment rolls, the holding of public hearings and the adoption 
of resolutions in order to levy and collect Special Assessments upon the lands within the District 
subject to assessment, all as more specifically required and provided for by the Act and Chapters 
170, 190 and 197, Florida Statutes, as the same may be amended from time to time, or any 
successor statutes thereto. 

Section 3.  Designation of Attesting Members.  Each Assistant Secretary of the Board of 
Supervisors (the “Board”) of the District (each individually a “Designated Member”) and the 
Secretary are hereby designated and authorized on behalf of the Board to attest to the seal of the 
District and to attest the signature of the Chairperson or Vice Chairperson of the Board as they 
appear on the Bonds, the Indenture and any other documents which may be necessary or helpful 
in connection with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds and in connection with the application 
of the proceeds thereof. 

Section 4.  Authorization of Execution and Delivery of Master Trust Indenture and 
Supplemental Trust Indenture.  The District does hereby authorize and approve the execution 

Page 34



by the Chairperson or Vice Chairperson and any Designated Member and the delivery of a Master 
Trust Indenture and a Supplemental Trust Indenture (collectively, the “Indenture”) for the Bonds, 
each between the District and the Trustee named in Section 6 of this Resolution.  The Indenture 
shall provide for the security of the Bonds and express the contract between the District and the 
owners of such Bonds.  The Indenture shall be in substantially the forms thereof attached hereto 
and marked composite Exhibit “A” and are hereby approved, with such modifications, additions, 
deletions, filling in of blanks or other changes therein as are necessary or desirable to reflect the 
terms of the sale of the Bonds as shall be approved by the Chairperson (or in his or her absence, 
the Vice Chairperson) executing the same, with such execution to constitute conclusive evidence 
of such officer’s approval and the District’s approval of any such changes therein from the forms 
of Indenture attached hereto. 

Section 5.  Sale of Bonds.  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 190.016(1) of the Act, 
the Bonds may be delivered in payment of all or a portion of the purchase price of the Project or 
may be sold at public or private sale after such advertisement, if any, as the Board may deem 
advisable but not in any event at less than 90 percent of the par value thereof, together with accrued 
interest thereon, in conformance with the provisions of the Act. 

Section 6.  Appointment of Trustee.  The District hereby appoints U.S. Bank Trust 
Company, National Association to act as trustee under the Indenture (the “Trustee”).  The Trustee 
shall also serve as the paying agent, registrar and authenticating agent under the Indenture. 

Section 7.  Bond Validation.  District Counsel and Bond Counsel to the District are hereby 
authorized and directed to take appropriate proceedings in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh 
Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida, for validation and the 
proceedings incident thereto for the Bonds to the extent required by and in accordance with Section 
190.016(12), Florida Statutes.  The Chairperson, Vice Chairperson or any Designated Member is 
authorized to sign any pleadings and to offer testimony in any such proceedings for and on behalf 
of the District.  The other members of the Board, the officers of the District and the agents and 
employees of the District, including, without limitation, the District Manager, the engineer or 
engineering firm serving as engineer to the District and the District’s underwriter are hereby also 
authorized to offer testimony for and on behalf of the District in connection with any such 
validation proceedings. 

Section 8.  Further Official Action; Ratification of Prior and Subsequent Acts.  The 
Chairperson, the Vice Chairperson, the Secretary and each Designated Member and any other 
proper official of the District are each hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver any 
and all documents and instruments (including, without limitation, any documents required by the 
Trustee to evidence its rights and obligations with respect to the Bonds, any documents required 
in connection with implementation of a book-entry system of registration, any funding agreements, 
acquisition agreements, true-up agreements and/or completion agreements with the Developer (as 
defined in the Indenture) or any other principal landowners, and investment agreements relating 
to the investment of the proceeds of the Bonds and any agreements in connection with maintaining 
the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income of the holders thereof) and to do and 
cause to be done any and all acts and things necessary or desirable for carrying out the transactions 
contemplated by this Resolution.  In the event that the Chairperson or the Secretary is unable to 
execute and deliver the documents herein contemplated, such documents shall be executed and 

Page 35



delivered by the respective designee of such officer or official or any other duly authorized officer 
or official of the District.  The Secretary or any Designated Member is hereby authorized and 
directed to apply and attest the official seal of the District to any agreement or instrument 
authorized or approved herein that requires such a seal and attestation.  All of the acts and doings 
of such members of the Board, the officers of the District, and the agents and employees of the 
District, which are in conformity with the intent and purposes of this resolution, whether heretofore 
or hereafter taken or done, shall be and are hereby ratified, confirmed and approved. 

Section 9.  Bond Anticipation Notes.  The District may, if it determines it to be in its best 
financial interest, issue Bond Anticipation Notes (“BANs”) in order to temporarily finance all or 
a portion of the costs of the Project.  The District shall by proper proceedings authorize the issuance 
and establish the details of such BANs pursuant to the provisions of Section 190.014, Florida 
Statutes, as amended, and other applicable provisions of laws. 

Section 10.  Subsequent Resolution(s) Required.  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained herein, no series of Bonds may be issued or delivered until the District adopts 
a subsequent resolution and/or supplemental indenture for each such series of Bonds, fixing the 
details of such series of Bonds remaining to be specified or delegating to the Chairperson, the Vice 
Chairperson or a Designated Member the authority to fix such details. 

Section 11.  Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this resolution 
shall be held to be invalid or ineffective for any reason, the remainder of this resolution shall 
continue in full force and effect, it being expressly hereby found and declared that the remainder 
of this resolution would have been adopted despite the invalidity or ineffectiveness of such section, 
paragraph, clause or provision. 

Section 12.  Effective Date.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 
adoption, and any provisions of any previous resolutions in conflict with the provisions hereof are 
hereby superseded. 

 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]  

Page 36



PASSED in Public Session of the Board of Supervisors of Keys Edge Community 
Development District, this 29th day of April, 2024. 

 
KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By:   
 Name: 

Title:  Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, 
           Board of Supervisors 

 
 
By:   
 Name: 
 Title:  Secretary/Assistant Secretary, 
                  Board of Supervisors 
 

Page 37



SCHEDULE I 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT 

The Project includes, but is not limited to, the following improvements: 

Water distribution and sewer collection systems, including the payment of connection 
fees;  
Stormwater management and drainage facilities;  
Roadway improvements, and the payment of road impact fees; and  
All related soft and incidental costs. 

As more particularly set forth in the Engineer’s Report Infrastructure Improvements dated June 2, 
2022, revised on April 29, 2024, prepared by Alvarez Engineers, Inc., as such report may be 
supplemented and/or amended from time to time. 
 

Page 38



EXHIBIT A 

FORMS OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE 
AND 

SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE 

 

Page 39



Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-02 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE KEYS 
EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DECLARING 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; INDICATING THE LOCATION, NATURE 
AND ESTIMATED COST OF  THE IMPROVEMENTS TO BE 
CONSTRUCTED, A PORTION OF WHICH COST IS TO BE DEFRAYED  
BY THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THE MANNER IN 
WHICH SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE APPORTIONED; 
PROVIDING WHEN SUCH SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE PAID; 
DESIGNATING CERTAIN LANDS IN THE DISTRICT UPON WHICH 
THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE LEVIED; PROVIDING FOR 
AN ASSESSMENT PLAT; AUTHORIZING THE PREPARATION OF A 
PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING FOR A PUBLIC 
HEARING TO CONSIDER THE ADVISABILITY AND PROPRIETY OF 
THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AND THE RELATED IMPROVEMENTS; 
PROVIDING FOR NOTICE OF SAID PUBLIC HEARING; PROVIDING 
FOR PUBLICATION OF THIS RESOLUTION; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the Keys Edge Community 
Development District (“District”) hereby determines to construct and/or acquire certain public 
improvements (“Improvements”) described in the District’s Engineer’s Report dated April 11, 
2024, as amended and as may be further revised, prepared by Alvarez Engineers, Inc. (the 
“Engineer’s Report”), and in the plans and specifications available for review at the offices of 
Special District Services, Inc., located at 8785 SW 165th Avenue, #200 
Miami, FL 33193 or 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the “District 
Offices”); 

            WHEREAS, the District is empowered by Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida Statutes, 
to refinance, finance, fund, plan, establish, acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, 
equip, operate, and maintain the Improvements and to impose, levy, and collect the special 
assessments (as defined below); 

 WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interest of the District to pay all or a 
portion of the cost of the Improvements by imposing, levying, and collecting special assessments 
pursuant to Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida Statutes (“Special Assessments”) against the 
assessable lands within the District; 

            WHEREAS, the District hereby determines, based on the findings in the Engineer’s 
Report, that benefits will accrue to the property improved, the amount of those benefits, and that 
the Special Assessments will be made in proportion to the benefits received as set forth in the 
District’s Master Special Assessment Methodology Report dated April 29, 2024, as amended and 
as may be further revised, prepared by Special District Services, Inc. (the “Master Report”), a 
copy of which is available for review in the District Offices, for the assessable lands in the 
District; 

 WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that the Special Assessments to be levied 
will not exceed the benefits to the property so improved; 

Page 40



Page 2 of 3 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
KEYS EDGECOMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, THAT: 

Section 1. The above recitals are hereby incorporated and adopted as the findings of fact of the 
Board. 

Section 2.  The Special Assessments shall be levied to defray a portion of the costs of the 
Improvements. 

Section 3.  The nature of the Improvements generally consists of, but not necessarily limited to, 
offsite and onsite roadway improvements including the payment by the District of road impact 
fees, stormwater management system, water distribution system including the payment by the 
District of related connection charges, sanitary sewer system including the payment by the 
District of related connection charges and other related improvements, all as described more 
particularly in the Engineer’s Report and the plans and specifications available for review in the 
District Offices. 

Section 4. The general locations of the Improvements are within parcels of land in the District 
consisting of approximately 90.22 gross acres located in the City of Florida City within the 
incorporated area of Miami-Dade County, Florida, in an area bounded by S.W. 336th Street on 
the north, S.W. 187th Road on the east, S.W. 344th Street on the south and S.W. 192nd Avenue on 
the west. 

Section 5. The estimated cost of the Improvements is approximately $26,967,000 (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Estimated Cost”) based on the Engineer’s Report. 

Section 6. The Special Assessments will defray approximately $33,500,000.00, which includes 
all or a portion of the Estimated Cost, plus financing related costs, capitalized interest and a debt 
service reserve requirement.  

Section 7. The manner in which the Special Assessments shall be apportioned and paid is 
contained within the Master Report. Initially, the Special Assessments will be levied on a per 
acre basis since the Improvements increase the value of all the lands in the District. On and after 
the date the benefited lands within the District are specifically platted, the Special Assessments 
will be levied on a per unit/lot basis. Until such time all benefitted lands within the District are 
specifically platted, the manner by which the Special Assessments will be imposed shall be a 
combination of a per acre basis and a per unit basis all in accordance with the Master Report. 

Section 8. The Special Assessments shall be levied on all lots and lands, within the District 
which are adjoining and contiguous or bounding and abutting upon the Improvements or 
specially benefited thereby and further designated on the assessment plat and/or assessment roll 
referenced in the Master Report. 

Section 9. There is on file in the District Offices an assessment plat showing the area to be 
assessed, with the plans and specifications describing the proposed Improvements and the 
Estimated Cost, all of which shall be open to inspection by the public.  

Section 10. The District Manager is hereby authorized and directed to cause to be made a 
preliminary assessment roll, as promptly as possible, which shall show the lots and lands to be 
assessed, the amount of benefit to and the Special Assessment against each lot or parcel of land 
and the number of annual installments into which the Special Assessment is divided. 

Page 41



Page 3 of 3 

Section 11. Commencing with the year in which the District incurs obligations for the payment 
of a portion of the Estimated Cost of the Improvements which are acquired and/or constructed by 
the District, the Special Assessments shall be paid in not more than thirty (30) annual 
installments (not counting any capitalized period) payable at the same time and in the same 
manner as are ad valorem taxes and as prescribed by Chapter 197, Florida Statutes; provided, 
however, that in the event the non-ad valorem assessment method of collecting the Special 
Assessments is not available to the District in any year, or the District determines not to utilize 
the uniform method of collection described in Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, the Special 
Assessments may be collected in such manner as is otherwise permitted by law. 

Section 12. Upon completion of the preliminary assessment roll, the Board shall adopt a 
subsequent resolution to fix a time and place at which the owners of property to be assessed or 
any other persons interested therein may appear before the Board and be heard as to the propriety 
and advisability of the Special Assessments or the making of the Improvements, the cost thereof, 
the manner of payment therefor, or the amount thereof to be assessed against each property as 
improved. 

Section 13. Pursuant to Section 170.05, Florida Statutes, the District Manager is hereby directed 
to cause this resolution to be published twice in a newspaper of general circulation within 
Miami-Dade County. 

Section 14.  In the event this Resolution conflicts with any other Resolution of the District, this 
Resolution shall govern and the conflicting Resolution shall be repealed to the extent of such 
conflict.  

PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 29th day of April, 2024. 
 
 

ATTEST: KEYS EDGE 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By:  By:  
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 

Page 42



Page 1 of 4 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-03 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE KEYS EDGE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING 
TO BE HELD ON JUNE 6, 2024 AT 10:30 A.M. TO BE HELD IN THE 
CONFERENCE ROOM LOCATED AT 1200 NW 4TH STREET, HOMESTEAD, 
FLORIDA 33030, FOR THE PURPOSE OF HEARING PUBLIC COMMENT ON 
THE LEVY OF NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS ON CERTAIN 
PROPERTY WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE DISTRICT; PURSUANT TO 
CHAPTERS 170, 190, AND 197, FLORIDA STATUTES; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the Keys Edge Community 
Development District (“District”) has adopted Resolution No. 2024-02 (the “Initial Assessment 
Resolution”), for implementing the limits, definitions, purpose, intent, location, nature and 
estimated cost of certain proposed infrastructure improvements to be partially defrayed by certain 
non-ad valorem special assessments on certain benefited properties within the boundaries of the 
District; and 

WHEREAS, the Initial Assessment Resolution provides for the estimated cost of the 
proposed infrastructure improvements to be defrayed by the non-ad valorem special assessments 
and provides further for the manner in which such assessments shall be levied, when the levy shall 
occur, and setting forth and designating the lands upon which the assessment shall be levied, 
providing for an assessment plat, the preparation of a preliminary assessment roll, and related 
matters; and 

WHEREAS, the Initial Assessment Resolution further provides for notice and conduct of a 
public hearing to consider the advisability and propriety of the non-ad valorem special assessments 
and the related infrastructure improvements; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Initial Assessment Resolution a preliminary assessment roll 
has been prepared and all of the conditions precedent (as set forth in applicable provisions of 
Florida Statutes, Chapters 170, 190 and 197, pertaining to the notice and conduct of the 
aforementioned Public Hearing) have been satisfied and all related documents are available for 
public inspection in the offices of Special District Services, Inc., 8785 SW 165th Avenue, #200 
Miami, FL 33193 or 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the “District 
Offices”). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, THAT: 
 

Section 1. The above recitals are hereby incorporated and adopted as the findings of 
fact of the Board. 

Section 2. There is hereby declared to be a public hearing to be held on June 6, 2024 at 
10:30 a.m. in the Conference Room located at 1200 NW 4th Street, Homestead, Florida 33030, for 
the purpose of hearing questions, comments and objections to the proposed non-ad valorem special 
assessments and the related infrastructure improvements as described in the preliminary 
assessment roll and in plans and specifications, copies of which are available for public inspection 
in the District Offices. Affected persons may either appear at the hearing or submit their written 
comments prior to the meeting to the District Offices. 

Page 43



Page 2 of 4 

 

Section 3. Notice (substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A”) of said 
hearing shall be advertised in accordance with Chapters 170, 190, and 197 Florida Statutes, and 
the District Manager is hereby authorized and directed to place said notice in a newspaper of 
general circulation within Miami-Dade County (by two publications one week apart with the last 
publication at least one week prior to the date of the hearing established herein). The District 
Manager shall file a publisher’s affidavit with the District Secretary verifying such publication of 
notice. The District Manager is further authorized and directed to give thirty (30) days written 
notice by mail of the time and place of this hearing to the owners of all property to be assessed and 
include in such notice the amount of the assessment for each such property owner, a description of 
the areas to be improved and notice that information concerning all assessments.  

 
PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 29th day of April, 2024. 
 

 
ATTEST: KEYS EDGE 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
By:  By:  
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 

Page 44



Page 3 of 4 

EXHIBIT “A” 

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO LEVY AND PROVIDE FOR THE COLLECTION 

AND ENFORCEMENT OF NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Keys Edge Community 
Development District (the “District”) will conduct a Public Hearing and a Special Meeting to 
consider adoption of an assessment roll and the imposition of special assessments against certain 
properties within the boundaries of the District. The general location of the area where proposed 
public infrastructure improvements to be improved and assessed is within a tract of land consisting 
of approximately 90.22 gross acres located in the City of Florida City within the incorporated area 
of Miami-Dade County, Florida, in an area bounded by S.W. 336th Street on the north, S.W. 187th 
Road on the east, S.W. 344th Street on the south and S.W. 192nd Avenue on the west. 

The purpose of the special assessments is to fund all or a portion of the cost of certain 
infrastructure improvements to certain properties within the area described above. The nature of 
the proposed improvements generally consists of, but are not necessarily limited to, off-site and 
on-site roadway improvements including the payment by the District of related road impact fees, 
stormwater management and drainage systems, water distribution system including the payment by 
the District of related connection charges, sanitary sewer system including the payment by the 
District of related connection charges and other related improvements, all as described more 
particularly in the Engineer’s Report dated and accepted April 29th, 2024, and as may be further 
revised, prepared by Alvarez Engineers, Inc. (the “Engineer’s Report”), and the plans and 
specifications on file in the offices of Special District Services, Inc., 8785 SW 165th Avenue, 
#200, Miami, FL 33193 or 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the “District 
Offices”). A description of each property to be assessed and the amount to be assessed to each 
piece or parcel of assessable property is set forth in the Master Special Assessment Methodology 
Report, dated and accepted April 29th, 2024, and as may be further supplemented, prepared by 
Special District Services, Inc., (the “Master Report”) on file in the District Offices. 

A Public Hearing to receive comments from affected property owners as to the propriety and 
advisability of making such improvements, as to the cost thereof, as to the manner of payment 
thereof; and as to the amount thereof to be assessed against each parcel will be held, in conjunction 
with the Special Board Meeting, on June 6, 2024, at 10:30 a.m. in the Conference Room located at 
1200 NW 4th Street, Homestead, Florida 33030. 

All affected property owners have a right to appear at the Public Hearing and the right to file 
written objections with the District within twenty (20) days of the publication of this Notice.  

If any person decides to appeal any decision made with respect to any matter considered at this 
Public Hearing, such persons will need a record of the proceedings and for such purpose said 
person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceeding is made at their own expense 
and which record includes the testimony and evidence on which the appeal is based. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, this document may be requested in an 
alternative format. Auxiliary aids or services will also be provided upon request with at least five 
(5) days’ notice prior to the proceeding. Please contact the District Manager at 786-313-3661 
and/or 877- 737-4922 for assistance. If hearing impaired, telephone the Florida Relay Service 
(800) 955-8771 (TDD) for assistance. 

KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Page 45



Page 4 of 4 

www.keysedgecdd.org 
 
PUBLISH MIAMI HERALD:  05/21/24 & 05/28/24 
 

Page 46



Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE KEYS 
EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (“DISTRICT”) 
EXPRESSING THE INTENT OF THE DISTRICT TO USE THE 
UNIFORM METHOD OF LEVY, COLLECTION AND 
ENFORCEMENT OF NON-AD VALOREM ASSESSMENTS AS 
AUTHORIZED AND PERMITTED BY SECTION 197.3632, FLORIDA 
STATUTES; EXPRESSING THE NEED FOR THE LEVY OF NON-AD 
VALOREM ASSESSMENTS AND SETTING FORTH THE LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION OF THE REAL PROPERTY WITHIN THE 
DISTRICT'S JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARIES THAT MAY OR 
SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE LEVY OF DISTRICT NON-AD 
VALOREM ASSESSMENTS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, provides for the usage by Keys Edge 

Community Development (“District”) of a uniform method of levying, collecting and enforcing 
its non-ad valorem assessments; and 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, sets forth certain requirements which must 
be met by the District in order to use said uniform method of levying, collecting and enforcing its 
non-ad valorem assessments; and 
 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, the District will 
cause to be published in a newspaper of general circulation within the county within which the 
District is located, weekly for four (4) consecutive weeks prior to the date of the public hearing a 
notice of the District's intent to hold a public hearing on June 6, 2024, at 10:30 a.m. in the 
Conference Room located at 1200 SW 4th Street, Homestead, Florida 33030, for the purpose of 
advising the public of the District's intention to adopt and use the Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, 
uniform method of levying, collecting and enforcing non-ad valorem assessments; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the District have determined that it is 
in the best interest of the District for the District to elect to use the uniform method of levying, 
collecting and enforcing non-ad valorem assessments as provided in Section 197.3632, Florida 
Statutes. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, THAT: 
 
 Section 1. The above recitals are hereby incorporated and adopted as the findings of 
fact of the Board.  
 

Section 2. The uniform method of levying, collecting and enforcing non-ad valorem 
assessments as authorized by Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, is hereby considered for 
adoption and usage by the District. 
 Section 3. Non-ad valorem assessments will in the future be required to be assessed 

Page 47



Page 2 of 3 

and levied by the District in order to provide necessary funds for one or more of the following 
reasons: 

(a) Satisfying the lawful debt obligations of the District, and/or 
 

(b) Financing, constructing, maintaining and servicing the Improvements of 
the District, and/or 

 
(c) The operation of the District, and/or 

 
(d) Such other lawful purposes which the District is empowered to provide as 

authorized by law. 
 
 Section 4. The uniform method of levying, collecting and enforcing non-ad valorem 
assessments now and in the future, if so required, shall, to the extent authorized by law, apply to 
all lands located within the jurisdictional boundaries of the District, as said jurisdictional 
boundaries are described in attached Exhibit "A" which is incorporated herein and made a part 
hereof. 
 
 Section 5. That a certified copy of this Resolution, together with Exhibit "A" 
attached thereto, shall be promptly forwarded to the Miami-Dade County Property Appraiser, 
Miami-Dade County Tax Collector and the Florida Department of Revenue. 
 
   

PASSED, ADOPTED and BECOMES EFFECTIVE this 29th day of April, 2024. 
 

 
ATTEST:         KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY 
         DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
By:          By:  
            Secretary/Assistant Secretary                                        Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 
 

Page 48



Page 3 of 3 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
KEYS EDGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  

 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 
 
The North 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 23, Township 57 South, Range 38 East,  less the East 35 
feet thereof, lying and being in Miami-Dade County, Florida. 
 
AND 
 
The Northwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 23, Township 57 South, Range 
38 East, lying and being in Miami-Dade County, Florida. 
 
AND 
 
The Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 in Section 23, Township 57 South, Range 
38 East, lying and being in Miami-Dade County, Florida. 
 
AND 
 
The East 1/2 of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 23, Township 57 South, Range 38 
East, lying and being in Miami-Dade County, Florida, LESS the South 295 feet thereof. 
 
AND 
 
The West 1/2 of the Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 23, Township 57 South, Range 38 
East, less the North 25 feet of the Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 
23, Township 57 South, Range 38 East, for right of way purposes, and less the South 295 feet thereof, 
lying and being in Miami-Dade County, Florida. 
 
TOGETHER WITH: 
 
The South 700 feet of the East 1/2 of the Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4, LESS the East 390.21 feet 
and LESS the South 295 feet thereof, in Section 23, Township 57 South, Range 38 East, lying and being in 
Miami-Dade County, Florida. 
 
LESS 
 
That portion of NW 189th Avenue as shown on certain Right of Way Deed to the City of Florida City for 
public Right of Way, recorded in Official Records Book 32068, at Page 3277, of the Public Records of 
Miami-Dade County, Florida, less the West 25 feet of the South 295 feet of the East 1/2 of the Southeast 
1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 23, Township 57 South, Range 38 East, Miami-Dade County, Florida. 
 
The above-described lands containing an area of 4,143,357 Square Feet, or 95.12 Acres, more or less, by 
calculations. 

 

Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



45 Offices in 20 Countries 

Squire Patton Boggs (US) LLP is part of the international legal practice Squire Patton Boggs, which operates worldwide through a number of separate legal entities. 

Please visit squirepattonboggs.com for more information. 

010-9414-5309/1/AMERICAS 

Re: Keys Edge Community Development District  
Special Assessment Bonds 

Page 55



2 

010-9414-5309/1/AMERICAS 

Page 56



3 

010-9414-5309/1/AMERICAS 

Page 57



Standard Terms and Conditions of Engagement Applicable Worldwide 

THE FIRM 

Page 58



WHAT PROFESSIONALS WILL PROVIDE 
THE LEGAL SERVICES? 

SCOPE AND NATURE OF 
OUR SERVICES TO YOU 

Page 59



WHO IS AND IS NOT OUR CLIENT 

Page 60



CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

Page 61



PUBLIC POLICY PRACTICE 

Page 62



REQUESTING LEGAL SERVICES 
ACTIVATES ENGAGEMENT TERMS 

TERMINATION OF 
REPRESENTATION 

Page 63



HOW WE SET OUR FEES 

Page 64



OTHER CHARGES 

Page 65



Letter Type Description Rate

BILLING ARRANGEMENTS AND 
PAYMENT TERMS 

Page 66



TAXES 

DATA PROTECTION AND PRIVACY 

Page 67



CLIENT AND FIRM DOCUMENTS 

ISO 27001 CERTIFICATION AND  
DATA SECURITY AND HANDLING 

Page 68



EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 

DISCLOSURE OF YOUR NAME 

SQUIRE PATTON BOGGS 
ATTORNEY/CLIENT PRIVILEGE 

SEVERABILITY 

PRIMACY 

ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

INTERPRETATIONS 

Page 69



GOVERNING LAW, COURTS AND 
BAR ASSOCIATIONS 

IN CONCLUSION 

Page 70



U.S. Bank Global Corporate Trust 

Global Corporate Trust 
500 West Cypress Creek Road, Suite 460 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

April 18th, 2024 

Special District Services, Inc. 
Armando Silva 
2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 

Re: Keys Edge Community Development District 
 Special Assessment Bonds, Series 2024 (Grand Palms Project) 

Mr. Silva: 

This letter will confirm U.S. Bank�s fee structure for the respective issuances/series of Bonds for the District: 

  Acceptance Fee     $2,125.00 

  Annual Trustee, Paying Agent & Registrar Fee  $3,950.00 
  
  Closing Expenses     $150.00 (Est., Florida closing) 
 
  Ongoing Out-of-Pocket Expenses   7.50% of Annual Fees 
 
  Trustee Counsel Fees    $6,250.00 (Estimated) 

          
 
Extraordinary Administration Services (�EAS�) are duties, responsibilities or activities not expected to be provided by the trustee or agent at the outset of 
the transaction, not routine or customary, and/or not incurred in the ordinary course of business, and which may require analysis or interpretation. Billing 
for fees and expenses related to EAS is appropriate in instances where particular inquiries, events or developments are unexpected, even if the possibility 

of such circumstances could have been identified at the inception of the transaction, or as changes in law, procedures, or the cost of doing business 
demand.  At our option, EAS may be charged on an hourly (time expended multiplied by current hourly rate), flat or special fee basis at such rates or in 

such amounts in effect at the time of such services, which may be modified by us in our sole discretion from time to time.  In addition, all fees and 
expenses incurred by the trustee or agent, in connection with the trustee�s or agent�s EAS and ordinary administration services and including without 

limitation the fees and expenses of legal counsel, financial advisors and other professionals, charges for document amendments and substitutions, 
tenders, optional redemptions, UCC filings, investment agreements, outside held money market funds, default administration, wire transfers, checks, 
internal transfers and securities transactions, travel expenses, communication costs, postage (including express mail and overnight delivery charges), 

copying charges and the like will be payable, at cost, to the trustee or agent. EAS fees are due and payable in addition to annual or ordinary 
administration fees.  Failure to pay for EAS owed to U.S. Bank within 45 days may result in interest being charged on amounts owed to U.S. Bank for 
extraordinary administration services fees and expenses at the prevailing market rate.  This proposal and the fees detailed herein are subject in all 

aspects to U.S. Bank�s review and acceptance of the final financing documents which set forth our duties and responsibilities. Fees are subject to change 
at our discretion and upon written notice. Fees paid in advance will not be prorated. The fees set forth above and any subsequent modifications thereof 
are part of your agreement. Finalization of the transaction constitutes agreement to the terms and conditions set forth herein, including agreement to 

any subsequent changes upon proper written notice. In the event your transaction is not finalized, any related expenses will be billed to the client directly. 

All fees and expenses are payable in advance.  Thank you for the opportunity to continue to provide our services to your firm, the District and 
the District�s professional team.  Please contact me at 954.938.2471 if you have any questions or need any additional information. 

Sincerely, 

Robert Hedgecock 
Robert Hedgecock 
Vice President 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT PROCEDURES FOR OPENING A NEW ACCOUNT: 
To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, Federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, 
verify and record information that identifies each person who opens an account.  For a non-individual person such as a business entity, a charity, 
a Trust or other legal entity we will ask for documentation to verify its formation and existence as a legal entity.  We may also ask to see financial 
statements, licenses, identification and other relevant documentation from individuals claiming authority to represent the entity.

Page 71



MEMORANDUM

Ethics Training

Deadlines & Recordkeeping

 

Links to Online Training

Page 72



Form 1 or Form 6

elected members of municipalities

Page 73


	Keys Edge Community Development District - Aptil 29, 2024 Special Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	December 14, 2023 Special Board Meeting Minutes
	Consider Approval of Engineer’s Report
	Consider Approval of Master Special Assessment Methodology Report
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-01 - Authorizing the Issuance of Bonds
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-02 – Declaring Assessments
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-03 – Setting Public Hearing on Assessments
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-04 – Setting Public Hearing for Intent to Use Uniform Method of Collection
	Consider Appointment of Investment Banker
	Consider Appointment of Bond Counsel
	Consider Appointment of Trustee
	Discussion Regarding Required Ethics Training Memorandum




